IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

WARREN A. BIRGE,	
Petitioner,	
VS.	CASE NO.: SC10-1755
CRYSTAL D. CHARRON,	
Respondent.	/

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CASE NO. 5D08-4504

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ELIZABETH C. WHEELER Florida Bar No. 0374210 ELIZABETH C. WHEELER, P.A. Post Office Box 2266

Orlando, Florida 32802-2266 Telephone: (407) 650-9008

Telecopier: (407) 650-9070 ewheeler@ewheelerpa.com Attorney for Petitioner

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This Court has accepted jurisdiction to review this case on the basis of conflict with Clampitt v. D.J. Spencer Sales, 786 So. 2d 570 (Fla. 2001), and Cevallos v. Rideout, 18 So. 3d 661 (Fla. 4th DCA 2009). The Court directed the parties to address this conflict in their briefs. At issue is the proper application of the rebuttable presumption that negligence on the part of a rearending driver is the sole proximate cause of the collision in a case where the defendant was the leading driver and the plaintiff was a passenger on the rear vehicle.

In <u>Clampitt</u> this Court reiterated the dual purposes underlying the presumption. The presumption fills an evidentiary void which arises in cases where a driver has been rear-ended but does not know why. 786 So. 2d at 572-573. Additionally, the presumption furthers public policy because the law requires all drivers with remaining alert and following the vehicle in front of him or her at a safe distance. <u>Id.</u> at 575. Because failure to maintain an adequate zone within which to stop is normally the sole proximate cause of injuries and damages resulting from a rear-end collision, there is a presumption of negligence on the part of the overtaking or following vehicle whose driver is in control of the following distance. <u>Id.</u> at 575-576.

Applying <u>Clampitt</u>, the Fourth District in <u>Cevallos</u> held that the rebuttable presumption applied to bar a claim by a rear-driver plaintiff against a lead-driver

defendant. The Fourth District rejected the plaintiff's argument that a lead-driver defendant could not use the presumption as a "shield" to require a rear-driver plaintiff to "establish the absence of negligence on her own part to pursue" her claim. 18 So. 2d at 664. In addition to the policy reasons outlined in <u>Clampitt</u>, the <u>Cevallos</u> court noted that the "sole cause of the accident" presumption avoids the burden of proof being shifted to the lead-driver defendant. <u>Id.</u> at 664.

In the instant case the Fifth District held the presumption does not apply when the plaintiff is a passenger of the following vehicle and sues the lead driver for negligence.¹ (A.1-12) The Fifth District determined that in such a case the issue is not whether any presumption of the following driver's negligence is rebutted but whether there is evidence that the leading driver was negligent and whether that negligence was a cause of the accident. (A.12) Characterizing as dicta this Court's statement in Clampitt that the following driver's presumed negligence is normally the sole proximate cause of a rear-end collision (A.9 n.6), the Fifth District further held that summary judgment against the plaintiff was improper whether or not the presumption of negligence on the part of the following driver was rebutted. (A.8)

¹The case is reported as <u>Charron v. Birge</u>, 37 So. 3d 292 (Fla. 5th DCA 2010). A copy of the opinion is included in the Appendix, which is referenced as (A.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Fifth District's opinion reflects that Petitioner, Warren Birge, was the operator of a motor vehicle which was struck from the rear by a motorcycle operated by William Smith. (A.1-2) Respondent, Crystal Charron, was a passenger on the rear-ending motorcycle and sued Birge for negligence. (A.1-2) The accident occurred on U.S. Highway 17-92, at the juncture where it merges with Seminole Boulevard at Lake Monroe in Sanford, Florida. (A.1-2)

Seminole Boulevard runs east and west parallel to the south shore of Lake Monroe. (A.14; R2.303, R3.438) The Birge vehicle and the motorcycle were both traveling in the single northbound lane of 17-92. (R2.273, 303) The north and southbound lanes of 17-92 are divided by a grassy median in this area. (R2.303) The northbound lane curves to the west and merges with Seminole Boulevard at the lake.² (A.14; R3.438)

The car was traveling a "[p]retty good ways" in front of Smith as he rounded a curve. (A.2) Smith testified he looked down a crossover side road to make sure no one was coming. (A.2) When he looked up, he saw that the car in front of him was "stopped" or "just about stopped." (A.2) Smith was unable to stop, and the bike flipped. (A.2)

²A diagram of the area is included in the Appendix. (A.14)

Birge testified that he slowed as he approached the merger point because he saw a black pickup approaching on Seminole Boulevard. (A.2) There is a yield sign on Seminole Boulevard, but it looked to Birge as though the two vehicles were bound for a collision because the two roads merged into a single lane. (A.2) Being cautious and knowing this was "a very hairy intersection," Birge stepped on the brake to slow down. (A.2-3) As he slowed, the pickup also slowed and eventually stopped at the sign. (A.2) Before he slowed down, Birge looked in the rear and side view mirrors and there was nothing in sight. (A.3)

When Birge was sure the pickup was stopped and was not proceeding, he stepped on the gas again and pulled ahead. (A.3) Just as he passed the truck and the yield sign, Birge heard a thump. (A.3) He pulled ahead two or three car lengths until he could see in the rearview the motorcycle and two people on the ground. (A.3) When he stopped the car, it was in the common lane just past the intersection of Seminole Boulevard. (R3.378)

Justin Christie, the operator of the pickup, testified that his vehicle had a manual transmission and was in third gear as he approached the yield sign. (R3.414-415) When he came to the yield sign, he looked over and saw the car coming, so he slowed down. (A.3) The other car also slowed down and then came to a complete stop. (A.3) That was when he heard the motorcycle hit and saw two people fly over. (A.3-4)

According to Christie, the accident happened more or less in front of the yield sign, where the two roads merged. (R3.417-18, 425) He did not know if the motor bike hit the car. (R3.419) He just heard a big braking noise, and it was at the back of the car. (R3.419)

Christie estimated the speed of the car at about 40 before it started to slow down. (R3.423) The car was not speeding but going at the regular speed that a car would be going on that road. (R3.423) The car slowed down right at the intersection where the two roads merged. (R3.423)

Christie could not estimate the speed of the motorcycle. (R3.424) He thinks the sound he heard was the wheels that were locked up. (R3.424) After he heard the braking, he heard a thump so he assumed the motorcycle hit the car. (R3.424) He did not see anything that would have obstructed the motorcycle operator's view of the car in front of him. (R3.427) He estimated that the motorcycle was one and a half car lengths behind the car before it hit. (R3.429, 430)

Christie's deposition was taken on June 19, 2008. (R3.408) On September 30, 2008, Christie was notified by the court reporter that the transcript was available for him to read and sign. (R3.437) No errata sheet was ever filed.

On November 5, 2008, Appellant filed an affidavit of Mr. Christie in opposition to the motion for summary judgment. (R1.57-58) In the affidavit, he stated that he saw the car proceeding on French Avenue at a speed of

approximately 30 to 35 miles per hour. (R1.58) He stated that the motorcycle was proceeding "at a reasonable distance behind the subject automobile at or about the same speed the automobile operator had been traveling before he slammed on his brakes." (R1.58) Although Christie repeatedly testified at his deposition that the Birge vehicle "slowed down" before it came to a complete stop (R3.414, 415, 416, 417, 423), he stated in his affidavit that the operator of the automobile "abruptly slammed on his brakes and brought his vehicle to an abrupt stop." (R1.58) Christie further averred that the motorcycle operator suddenly attempted to veer and slow the motorcycle, but the motorcycle flipped and threw both the operator and the passenger off and onto the roadway. (R1.58) The Fifth District quoted these facts from Christie's affidavit in its opinion. (A.4-5)

Charron claims to have memory loss as a result of the accident. (R2.183) She does not remember seeing any vehicle on Seminole Boulevard. (R2.189) She did not see when the car in front stopped or why it stopped. (R2.192) She did not see if the car moved to the right or the left or was in the same lane when it tried to stop. (R2.190)

Charron remembered Mr. Smith downshifting, and that was all. (R2.190) She testified that Mr. Smith downshifted as soon as the car in front stopped. (R2.205) They were maybe three car lengths from the car when Smith

downshifted. (R2.205-06) Appellant did not remember anything after the downshifting. (R2.217)

Mr. Smith also has memory problems, although he does not know if they are from the accident. (R2.285) He did not remember anyone coming down Seminole Boulevard. (R2.242) He did not look down Seminole Boulevard to see if a car was coming. (R2.246-47) He agreed that traffic does come from that direction, but he never looked at Seminole Boulevard to see if there was any traffic. (R2.275, 307)

He remembered looking to his right to make sure no one was coming up a cross street that intersects 17-92. (R2.242-44) Smith looked down the cross street and saw no one coming. (R2.243) The car ahead of him was still moving. (R2.306) Smith testified the cross street was 500 to 700 feet from where the accident happened. (R2.242)

After Smith had fully passed the side street, he looked up and saw the brake lights on the car in front of him. (R2.243, 269, 306) He downshifted and tried to stop and then tried to go to the left. (R2.247) When he hit the brakes, the motorcycle started sliding sideways. (R2.247-48)

Smith estimated that the car was three to four car lengths ahead of him when he tried to downshift and stop. (R2.248) He could have been traveling 30 miles an hour before he started braking. (R2.253) He had fully passed the side street before he hit his brakes. (R2.269) He did not know where he was on the roadway when he

first tried to stop, nor did he know how far away the car was when he started to go toward the left. (R2.248, 305, 307) He drives on the right side of the lane and went to the left to get to the grassy median. (R2.248-51) He never made it off the roadway. (R2.250)

Smith did not specifically remember hitting the car. (R2.251, 252) He remembered being flipped. (R2.252) He did not know whether the bike flipped before or after it hit the car. (R2.252) When he downshifted and tried to stop and went to the left, he tried to lay the bike down going toward his left. (R2.252) As he was laying the bike down, he yelled to Charron to jump. (R2.253) She did not jump but grabbed onto him. (R2.253)

Smith ended up in the middle of the roadway, six or eight feet from the car. (R2.253, 308) The motorcycle was on top of Charron. (R2.309) The back side of the bike fender was under the car. (R2.261) All the damage to the bike was on its left side. (R2.262) The car was still within the two lines of the northbound lane. (R2. 268, 273)

Birge moved for summary judgment, asserting that a presumption of negligence attached to Smith as the following driver, that Charron failed to

overcome the presumption, and that Birge was not liable for the accident as a matter of law. (A.4) The trial court³ granted Birge's motion, stating:

In the <u>Clampitt</u> [v. D.J. Spencer Sales, 786 So. 2d 570 (Fla. 2001)] case the court says it appears – explains that the sudden stop standing alone is insufficient to overcome the presumption of negligence. It is not merely an abrupt stop, but if they perceive the vehicle if it is in its proper place on the highway that rebuts or dissipates the presumption that the negligence that the rear driver was the sole cause of the collision. It is a sudden stop by the preceding driver at the time and place where it could not reasonably be expected by the following driver that creates the factual issue. These cases seem to be clear. And in the <u>Hunter</u> [v. Ward, 812 So. 2d 601 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002)] case each driver is charged under the laws to remain alert in following the vehicle in front of him or her at a safe distance.

Anyway, I find that there's no substantial – in looking at it in the light best suited for the plaintiff I'm going to grant the motion for summary judgment.

(A.5-6) Charron's motion for rehearing was denied by the trial court. (A.6)

The Fifth District's Opinion

Construing this Court's decision in <u>Clampitt</u> as applying only to cases "where the lead driver sues the rear driver," the Fifth District concluded that the presumption of negligence on the part of the following driver does not apply where a passenger of the following vehicle sues the lead driver. (A.8) The court characterized the issue in this case "properly framed" as being "not whether any

³The trial court judge was The Honorable James E.C. Perry. (A.1)

presumption of Smith's negligence was rebutted, but whether there is record evidence that Birge was negligent as the forward driver and solely caused, or caused in connection with Smith, the injuries to Charron." (A.8, 12) The court concluded that summary judgment against Charron was improper "whether or not the presumption of Smith's negligence as the following driver was rebutted." (A.8)

The court acknowledged that its conclusion was contrary to that of the Fourth District in Cevallos v. Rideout, 18 So. 3d 661 (Fla. 4th DCA 2009), and rejected the Cevallos court's finding that public policy mandated a rule that the following driver be deemed the sole cause of a rear-end collision. (A.9 n.6) The court reasoned that Cevallos was "different from this case because the plaintiff in that case was the following *driver* in a rear-end collision." (A.9 n.6) (emphasis in original). Even if the Cevallos court was right, however, the Fifth District held the presumption of negligence would have no application to an injured third party. (A.9 n.6)

The Fifth District characterized as dicta this Court's statement in <u>Clampitt</u> that the following driver is "normally" the sole proximate cause of a rear-end collision. (A.9 n.6) The court held that, to the extent Birge suddenly stopped, the issue on his motion for summary judgment was not whether Smith should have anticipated the stop but whether the stop was negligent. (A.9-10) The court concluded it was error to enter summary judgment under the facts of this case on

the issue of whether the rear driver should have anticipated the lead driver's stop at the location where the accident happened. (A.10)

The Fifth District granted Petitioner's motion for certification "to the extent that portions of the opinion of the Fourth District Court of Appeal in Cevallos... are expressly contrary" to the decision in the instant case. (A.13) This Court has exercised its jurisdiction to review Cevallos, and that case is currently pending. See Case No. SC09-2238. This Court has accepted jurisdiction in the instant case on the basis of conflict with Cevallos and Clampitt and has directed the parties to address that conflict in their briefs.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Fifth District's decision departs from the longstanding principle of Florida law that a rebuttable presumption of negligence applies to a rear-ending driver. Although the presumption developed in cases where the plaintiff was the leading driver, the purposes of the presumption are served by applying it to the rear-ending driver whether the plaintiff is the leading driver, the rear-ending driver,

or a passenger in either vehicle. Application of the presumption should not depend on the rear-ending driver's status in litigation.

The Fifth District ignored the policy reasons underlying the presumption and disregarded this Court's precedent. Its decision is likely to cause confusion for litigants and the trial courts. This Court should exercise its jurisdiction to review this case and reaffirm the viability of the presumption.

Because the Fifth District applied erroneous legal principles in this case and there was no evidence fairly and reasonably tending to show that Mr. Smith was not negligent, the Fifth District's decision should be quashed.

ARGUMENT

I. The Fifth District's Decision Conflicts with this Court's decision in Clampitt v. D.J. Spencer Sales, 786 So. 2d 570 (Fla. 2001).

The Fifth District's decision in the instant case expressly and directly conflicts with this Court's decision in <u>Clampitt v. D.J. Spencer Sales</u>, 786 So. 2d 570 (Fla. 2001). There is express conflict because the Fifth District's decision contains a discussion of the legal principles applied by the court. <u>See Ford Motor Co. v. Kikis</u>, 401 So. 2d 1341, 1342 (Fla. 1981). There is direct conflict because the Fifth District announced a rule of law which conflicts with this Court's announcement in <u>Clampitt</u>. <u>See Aguilera v. Inservices</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 905 So. 2d 84, 86 (Fla. 2005).

Clampitt came to this Court based on conflict between the First District's decision in D.J. Spencer Sales v. Clampitt, 704 So. 2d 601 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997), and the Fifth District's *en banc* decision in Pierce v. Progressive American Insurance Co., 582 So. 2d 712 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991). In Pierce a majority of all the judges of the Fifth District affirmed a summary judgment holding that two leading drivers in a chain collision were not liable, as a matter of law, to the rear-driver plaintiff because the plaintiff failed to produce evidence to rebut the presumption of the plaintiff's negligence in regard to the third collision. Id. at 714. In Spencer Sales the First District held the trial court erred in granting a partial summary judgment on liability, holding that the rear driver failed to rebut the presumption that he was the sole cause of the accident. 704 So. 2d 602.

The First District's description of the facts in <u>Spencer Sales</u> was scant. The court noted that three vehicles were involved in the accident at issue. The first vehicle was a pickup truck and trailer driven by a party who was dismissed from the action prior to trial. <u>Id.</u> The middle vehicle was an automobile driven by Clampitt. <u>Id.</u> The third vehicle was a tractor-trailer rig driven by Carl Hetz and owned by Spencer Sales and Reliable Peat Company JV. <u>Id.</u> The First District described the accident as follows:

Hetz, the driver of the rear vehicle, testified that [Clampitt] "dead-stopped" in front of him in an area with a posted speed limit of 55 miles per hour. He also

testified that after leaving the Bronston city limits, he remained two truck lengths behind appellee's car. Appellant Hetz then stated that when he saw [Clampitt] stop on the highway, he hit his brakes and put down 110 feet of skid marks. He further testified that [Clampitt's] brake lights did not come on prior to the collision. [Hetz's] testimony was corroborated, in part, by [Clampitt's] memorandum of law in support of her motion for partial summary judgment on liability. The memorandum states that [Clampitt's] car collided with the vehicle ahead and then stopped in the roadway. At the same instant or immediately thereafter [Hetz's] vehicle collided with the rear of [Clampitt's] car.' Appellant Hetz stated that the lead driver's brake lights and turn indicators were checked at the accident site, and were found to be operational. Unfortunately, [Clampitt] has no memory of the moments immediately before and after the accident.

Id. at 603.

Clampitt argued in her motion for partial summary judgment that there was no evidence to rebut the presumption of negligence of Hetz as the driver of the rear vehicle. <u>Id.</u> at 602. She further argued that her abrupt stop in front of the vehicle driven by Hetz did not rebut or dissipate the presumption that the negligence of the rear driver was the sole proximate cause of the rear-end collision. <u>Id.</u> at 602-603. The trial court accepted Clampitt's argument that since her car was in its proper place on the highway, the presumption of negligence was not rebutted merely because her vehicle stopped suddenly. <u>Id.</u> at 603.

In reaching its conclusion the First District referred to <u>Pierce</u>, in which the Fifth District held:

As a matter of law, it is not a substantial and reasonable explanation by Pierce to merely say that the vehicles ahead of him . . . stopped abruptly. Such stops had to be reasonably anticipated at the time and place where they occurred according to Pierce's own testimony: in a crowded lane of traffic approaching a busy intersection controlled by a traffic signal which was in view of all four drivers at the time of the collisions.

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