THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

SUPREME COURT CASE NO.: SC10-1755 LOWER TRIBUNAL NOS.: 5D08-4504 08-CA974

WARREN A. BIRGE,

Petitioner,

v.

CRYSTAL D. CHARRON,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

HIGH STACK GORDON KIRBY 525 E. Strawbridge Avenue Melbourne, FL 32901 Tel: (321) 725-7575 Fax:(321) 984-2411 Attorney for Appellant

/ s /

BY: CHARLES R. STACK FBN: 076928

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Two considerations urge this Court to affirm the opinion in <u>Charron v.</u> <u>Birge</u>, 37 So.3d 292 (Fla. 5th DCA 2010) while embracing that holding's interpretation of <u>Clampitt v. D.J. Spencer Sales</u>, 786 So.2d 570 (Fla. 2001). The same considerations suggest that this Court invalidate the rationale found in <u>Cevallos v. Rideout</u>, 18 So.3d 661 (Fla. 4th DCA 2009):

4

Charron, 37 So.3d at 297 quoting Clampitt, 786 So.2d at 572-73

(1) The trial court erred in imputing the McNulty Presumption to the Plaintiff, who was an innocent passenger in the collision. It is clear from wellestablished precedent that the presumption bears only upon the negligence of the rear driver and not passengers. Further, the evidence in the case at hand at no time suggested the existence of any of the exceptions to the rule which would allow the presumption to impute to the Plaintiff/passenger, such as a joint enterprise or agency relationship between the Plaintiff and Smith.

(2) Given that the evidence suggested the likelihood that the lead driver was at least negligent and was a cause of the collision, the following driver may not have been negligent, and the Plaintiff should have survived summary judgment review. Stated differently, the Defendant's abrupt and unwarranted stopping could well be viewed by reasonable people as clear negligence, thus rebutting the presumption.

To bar following drivers from maintaining negligence suits, even when there is evidence suggesting the lead drivers own culpability caused the collision, would create a holdover of contributory negligence. It appears that the Florida Supreme Court has not held that the following driver must first establish that his or her own actions did not contribute to the accident in order to pursue a claim of negligence against the lead driver. It cannot be said that <u>Clampitt</u>, or any other opinion from this Court since <u>Hoffman v. Jones</u>, 280 So.2d 431 (Fla. 1973), intended to carve

out an exception to comparative negligence principles uniquely in the context of rear-end collisions.

The public policy considerations raised by <u>Cevallos</u> and raised by Appellee's Merit Brief in this case, are unpersuasive as a basis for reversing <u>Charron</u>. Such public policy goals apply equally to a number of additional contexts where Florida courts have elected to apply comparative negligence, rather than contributory negligence, principles.

Given that the <u>Charron v. Birge</u>, 37 So.3d 292 (Fla. 5th DCA 2010) opinion is in harmony with the doctrine of comparative negligence, while the <u>Cevallos v.</u> <u>Rideout</u>, 18 So.3d 661 (Fla. 4th DCA 2009) opinion ignores it, the logic underpinning the former should be upheld while the reasoning of the latter should be abandoned. Under any view of the available facts here, the trial court's dismissal of the Plaintiff's case was error and denied the Plaintiff her right to a jury trial, Fla. Const. Art. I, § 22 (2011). Reversal of the trial court's decision by the Fifth District Court of Appeal was proper and should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT ONE

THE MCNULTY PRESUMPTION OF NEGLIGENCE WHICH ATTACHES TO A FOLLOWING DRIVER IN A REAR-END COLLISION DOES NOT APPLY TO PASSENGERS

Here, Plaintiff was a passenger on a motorcycle operated by Smith. The presumption that a rear driver in a rear-end collision is negligent does not impute

to passengers. As the Court of Appeal stated below: "The presumption clearly does not apply where a passenger of the following vehicle sues the lead driver for his negligence." (R.81). In Footnote 5, the appellate court continued:

Even under contributory negligence, a passenger in the rear vehicle was entitled to pursue all potential tortfeasors, including the forward drivers, in a rear-end collision. The presumption of negligence of the rear driver that is available to the lead driver does not affect the passenger's right to recover. <u>See Davis v. Sobik's Sandwich Shops</u>, Inc., 351 So.2d 17 (Fla. 1977). (R.81).

After distinguishing the facts, and disagreeing with the rationale, of <u>Cevallos</u>, the Fifth District stated in Footnote 6: "Even if the <u>Cevallos</u> court is right ... the presumption still would have no application to an injured third party." (R.82).

While conflict exists regarding whether <u>Clampitt v. D.J. Spencer Sales</u>, 786 So.2d 570 (Fla. 2001) intended to allow a remnant of contributory negligence to linger in Florida's tort law, there is no conflict regarding whether the McNulty Presumption is imputed to passengers who exercise no control over the rear vehicle. Florida precedent clearly demonstrates that it does not.

As early as 1912 this Court held that the negligence of a chauffeur driving a vehicle was not imputable to his passenger, absent a showing that the passenger had authority or control over the machine or driver. <u>Porter v. Jacksonville Elec.</u> <u>Co.</u>, 60 So. 188 (Fla. 1912). Over the next century, this general principle was affirmed time and again. <u>See Miami Coca Cola Bottling Co. v. Mahlo</u>, 45 So.2d

119, 121 (Fla. 1950); <u>Bessett v. Hackett</u>, 66 So.2d 694, 698 (Fla. 1953) ("The rule is that the negligence of the driver of an automobile is not in general imputable to a passenger who has no authority or control over the car or the driver."); <u>Georgia S.</u> <u>& F. Ry. Co. v. Shiver</u>, 172 So.2d 639 (Fla. 1st DCA 1965) (quoting <u>Bessett</u>); <u>Conner v. Southland Corp.</u>, 240 So.2d 822 (Fla. 4th DCA 1970); <u>Walton v. Robert</u> <u>E. Haas Const. Corp.</u>, 259 So.2d 731 (Fla. 3d DCA 1972); <u>James A. Cummings</u> <u>Inc. v. Larson</u>, 588 So.2d 1066 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991).

Since the presumption did not impute to the Plaintiff, the record must be searched for an exception to the normal rule so as to permit a passenger to be held accountable for the negligence of the driver. The evidence in this case never suggested that the Plaintiff exercised control over Smith's motorcycle. Further, the Plaintiff and Smith were not on a joint enterprise and there existed no agency relationship between them. <u>Conner</u>, 240 So.2d 822 (detailing the elements of a "joint enterprise" in the context of automobile liability); <u>Bessett</u>, 66 So.2d at 698 citing <u>Ford Motor Lines v. Hill</u>, 106 Fla. 33 (Fla. 1931) ("In the absence of agency or joint enterprise, contributory negligence on the part of the driver will not ordinarily be imputed to a guest or invitee if the latter relies on the skill and judgment of the driver and does not attempt to impose his will on the driver to see that the machine is properly driven.").

Given Florida's firmly established precedent on this matter, rebutting the McNulty Presumption was a burden the law never intended for this Plaintiff to bear, since she "was an innocent passenger, free of any contributory negligence." <u>Davis</u>, 351 So.2d at 18. Therefore, the trial court's grant of summary judgment in Defendant's favor was error, and this Court should affirm the Fifth District Court of Appeal's holding to that effect.

ARGUMENT TWO

EVEN IF THE PRESUMPTION COULD BE IMPUTED TO PLAINTIFF, AND WAS UNREBUTTED, BECAUSE EVIDENCE SUGGESTED NEGLIGENCE ON THE PART OF THE LEAD DRIVER, COMPARATIVE NEGLIGENCE PRINCIPLES PRECLUDES SUMMARY JUDGMENT

Given that the McNulty Presumption carries a burden the law never intended a passenger to bear, the <u>Charron</u> opinion clearly did not turn upon whether that presumption had been rebutted. However, even if it had been proper to impute the presumption to the Plaintiff/passenger, there indeed was sufficient record evidence suggesting the lead driver Defendant's own negligence was a proximate cause of the accident. Therefore, the Plaintiff's suit should have been allowed to continue under comparative negligence principles. The rear-end collision presumption rule was recognized by Florida appellate courts in 1958 and approved by this Court shortly thereafter in 1959.⁵ The rule was created to fill the evidentiary void created by a lead-driver's inability to explain the reason for the rear driver's collision with his or her vehicle. That is, while a plaintiff ordinarily bears the burden of proving the four elements of negligence, obtaining proof of a breach and causation in a rear-end collision is difficult because while a lead driver plaintiff may know he or she has been rear-ended, they usually do not know why they were rear-ended.⁶

Florida law has recognized three specific factual situations in which the rear driver may rebut the McNulty Presumption: (1) evidence of a mechanical failure,⁷ (2) evidence suggesting the lead vehicle was illegally, and therefore, unexpectedly stopped,⁸ or (3) evidence suggesting the lead driver made a sudden and unexpected stop or lane change.⁹ <u>Dep't of Highway Safety & Motor Vehicles v. Saleme</u>, 963 So.2d 969, 972 (Fla. 3d DCA 2007). It is the third situation which applies to the

⁵ <u>McNulty v. Cusack</u>, 104 So. 2d 785 (Fla. 2d DCA, 1958); <u>Bellere v. Madsen</u>, 114 So.2d 619 (Fla. 1959)

⁶ <u>Eppler v. Tarmac Am., Inc.</u>, 752 So.2d 592, 594 (Fla. 2000).

⁷ <u>Gulle v. Boggs</u>, 174 So.2d 26, 29 (Fla.1965) (testimony that defendant's brakes failed was sufficient to overcome the negligence presumption).

⁸ <u>Ry. Express Agency, Inc. v. Garland</u>, 269 So.2d 708, 710 (Fla. 1st DCA 1972) (presumption rebutted where defendant, who was driving a bus, improperly stopped on an expressway to pick up fallen debris)

⁹ <u>Clampitt v. D.J. Spencer Sales</u>, 786 So.2d 570, 574 (Fla. 2001) quoting <u>Pierce v.</u> <u>Progressive American Insurance Co.</u>, 582 So.2d 712, 714 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) ("It is a sudden stop by the preceding driver at a time and place where it could not reasonably be expected by the following driver that creates the factual issue.")

case at hand. Examining the evidence available to the trial court, the appellate

court stated:

Under one view of the evidence, Birge was negligent because, even though he had the right-of-way on a major thoroughfare, he suddenly stopped his car, erroneously believing Christie had the right-of-way, to the point that he even waved Christie on. There is no suggestion that Christie was not operating his vehicle correctly. Birge stopped because Christie reached the intersection as Birge reached the point of merger and Birge was not sure what was happening. But, if Birge wanted to stop until he was sure it was safe to proceed, or if he wanted to let Christie have the right-of-way, he had to do so in a way that would not place others in a zone of risk of harm. There is a difference between stopping for a reason and unnecessarily stopping for a reason. (R.83).

As to whether Defendant's sudden stop should have been anticipated, the

Fifth District stated:

Based upon the evidence, it would seem that the question whether Birge's alleged sudden stop occurred at a time and place where a following driver should reasonably have anticipated a sudden stop is a question of fact.

•••

The evidence could support a verdict for negligence on the part of Birge because there is evidence that he suddenly stopped in the middle of 17-92, that he did so unnecessarily, under the mistaken belief that Christie might have the right to proceed, and that he did so under circumstances where there was following traffic endangered by the unnecessary stop. Entry of summary final judgment in his favor was error. (R.84-85).

While it was beyond question that Defendant's stop was "sudden," the

appellate court elected to not affirmatively state that the stop was "unexpected," as

doing so would be putting the judiciary in the shoes of the fact-finder. Nelson v.

Ziegler, 89 So.2d 780, 782 (Fla. 1956), states:

It is ordinarily the function of the jury to weigh and evaluate the evidence. This is particularly so in negligence cases where reasonable men often draw varied conclusions from the same evidence.

The McNulty Presumption arose during a period of Florida's history when

the state had not yet adopted comparative negligence. Eventually recognizing the

unjust results that the doctrine of contributory negligence could create, this Court

stated in Hoffman v. Jones, 280 So.2d 431, 437 (Fla. 1973):

The rule of contributory negligence is a harsh one which either places the burden of a loss for which two are responsible upon only one party or relegates to Lady Luck the determination of the damages for which each of two negligent parties will be liable. When the negligence of more than one person contributes to the occurrence of an accident, each should pay the proportion of the total damages he has caused the other party.

Recently, this Court again affirmed its adherence to comparative negligence

principles in <u>Williams v. Davis</u>, 974 So.2d 1052, 1061 (Fla. 2007):

[T]ort liability in Florida is premised on pure comparative negligence, which means that a jury should apportion fault between a plaintiff, defendant, and any third parties alleged to have been at fault, and render an award based on a defendant's percentage of fault in causing an injury. Granting absolute immunity to some who may in fact be partially responsible for contributing to the cause of an accident would obviously undermine this policy of shared responsibility.

Although Florida now operates under the comparative negligence doctrine,

to answer the question of whether the McNulty Presumption has been rebutted

does not also answer the unrelated question of whether evidence suggests the lead driver was also negligent. <u>Servello & Sons, Inc. v. Sims</u>, 922 So.2d 234 (Fla. 5th DCA 2005); <u>Jefferies v. Amery Leasing, Inc.</u>, 698 So.2d 368 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997); <u>Cleaveland v. Florida Power & Light, Inc.</u>, 895 So.2d 1143, 1145 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005); <u>Johnson v. Deep South Crane Rentals, Inc.</u>, 634 So.2d 1113, 1114 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994). Given that reasonable minds could differ as to whether at least some of the evidence in this case suggested that the Defendant's stop was "unexpected," the above quoted precedent establishes that the Plaintiff should have survived summary judgment review.

Many situations could arise where a rear driver is unable to rebut the McNulty Presumption but is still able to produce evidence suggesting the lead driver's negligence as a cause of the collision. In Footnote 6 of the <u>Charron</u> opinion the Fifth District provides this illustrative example:

Consider, for example, a lead driver is texting a cell phone message to his girlfriend with one hand, while tuning the car radio with the other, when he drops his phone into the cup of coffee between his legs and slams on the car's brakes in shock and pain, with the result that he is struck by the following driver, who was unprepared for the sudden stop. The notion that the lead driver is immune from any liability because the collision happened to occur at a time and place where the following driver should have anticipated his stop makes no sense. (R.81).

This argument is consistent with Justice Pariente's dissenting opinion from Eppler v. Tarmac America, 752 So.2d 592, 597-98 (Fla. 2000), which is the most rational approach to the presumption to be offered after the adoption of comparative negligence:

While a sudden stop alone does not defeat a directed verdict on the issue of the rear driver's negligence, a sudden stop that occurs because the forward driver failed to exercise reasonable care (i.e. stopped for no apparent reason) could also be the basis for a claim of comparative negligence where the forward driver is the plaintiff. Indeed, after this Court first adopted the presumption of negligence in rear-end collisions, the principle of comparative negligence replaced the all-ornothing contributory negligence doctrine. Comparative negligence allows a jury to apportion liability between a negligent plaintiff and a negligent defendant. After the advent of comparative negligence, an unrebutted presumption of negligence no longer means that the negligence of the rear driver must be the "sole proximate cause" of a rear collision.

To bar following drivers from maintaining negligence suits because they are unable to rebut the presumption, even when there is evidence suggesting the lead drivers own culpability for the collision, would create a situation incompatible with comparative negligence principles. <u>Chadbourne v. Van Dyke</u>, 590 So.2d 1023 (Fla. 1st DCA, 1991) ("There is no logic in blindly applying the rear-end collision rule to determine the rear driver automatically to be the sole source of negligence."); <u>Gibson v. Avis-Rent-A-Car Systems, Inc.</u>, 386 So.2d 520, 522 (Fla. 1980) ("One who is negligent is not absolved of liability when her conduct 'sets in motion' a chain of events resulting in injury to the Plaintiff."). It cannot be the case that Clampitt, or any other opinion from this Court since Hoffman v. Jones, 280 So.2d 431 (Fla. 1973), intended to carve out an exception to comparative negligence principles exclusively to the unremarkable context of rear-end collisions.

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